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Grace Caroline Mahan, Esq. (TX# 24106239)
EISENBERG & BAUM, LLP
24 Union Square East, Fourth Floor
New York, NY 10003
212-353-8700 (tel.)
212-353-1708 (fax)
gmahan@eandblaw.com
Attorneys for Plaintiff

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
----------------------------------------------------------------

JANE CUMMINGS,
Civ. No. 18-cv-649
Plaintiff,
COMPLAINT
v.
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
PREMIER REHAB, P.L.L.C.
Defendant.
---------------------------------------------------------------Plaintiff, JANE CUMMINGS, by and through her undersigned counsel, EISENBERG &
BAUM, LLP, hereby files this Complaint against Defendant, PREMIER REHAB, and alleges as
follows:
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
1.

Plaintiff Jane Cummings has been deaf since birth. Her deafness impacted her

ability to learn and acquire language from an early age. As a result, she has difficulty
communicating in English. Plaintiff also suffers from a visual impairment caused by her condition
of albinism, which has resulted in Plaintiff’s being legally blind. Defendant is a rehabilitation
physical therapy center with locations in Fort Worth, Keller, The Colony, and North Richland
Hills, Texas.
1
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Defendant has both hindered and prevented Plaintiff from benefitting from its

services, and has discriminated against Plaintiff unlawfully on the basis of Plaintiff’s disability of
deafness by refusing to provide the ASL interpreters that Plaintiff requires to attend, understand,
and participate in appointments at Defendant’s facilities.
3.

Based on Plaintiff’s allegations herein, it is evident that Defendant has failed to

implement policies, procedures, and practices respecting the civil rights and communication needs
of deaf individuals. Plaintiff brings this lawsuit to compel Defendant to cease unlawful
discriminatory practices and implement policies and procedures that will ensure effective
communication, full and equal enjoyment, and a meaningful opportunity to participate in and
benefit from Defendant’s services.
4.

Plaintiff seeks declaratory, injunctive, and equitable relief; compensatory and

exemplary damages; and attorneys’ fees and costs to redress Defendant’s unlawful discrimination
on the basis of Plaintiff’s disability in violation of Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act
(“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12181 et seq.; Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. §
794 (“RA”); Section 1557 of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, and Section 121.003
of the Texas Human Resources Code, and other state and common law causes of action.
THE PARTIES
5.

Plaintiff JANE CUMMINGS brings this action as a resident of Fort Worth, Texas.

Plaintiff is a profoundly deaf individual who primarily communicates in American Sign Language.
She is also legally blind as a result of the congenital disorder of albinism. She is an individual with
a disability within the meaning of federal and state civil rights laws.
6.

Defendant, PREMIER REHAB, is a business located in the Dallas-Fort Worth mid-

cities areas that provides rehabilitation physical therapy services. Upon information and belief,
Defendant is a recipient of federal financial assistance, including Medicare and/or Medicaid
2
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reimbursements.
JURISDICTION & VENUE
7.

This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343 for Plaintiff’s claims arising under the laws of the United States, and
supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 for Plaintiff’s claims arising under state
and local laws.
8.

Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because both

Plaintiff and Defendant are residents of this District. Additionally, the acts and omissions giving
rise to this Complaint occurred within this District.
STATEMENT OF FACTS
9.

Plaintiff is a profoundly deaf individual whose first and primary language is

American Sign Language (“ASL”).
10.

Plaintiff has limited English proficiency (both spoken and written) as a result of her

disability.
11.

Plaintiff suffers from the congenital disorder of albinism. As a result of her

albinism, Plaintiff is legally blind.
12.

Because of the severity of her visual impairment, Plaintiff struggles to read written

text. Writing is not an effective mode of communication for Plaintiff.
13.

As a result of a work injury and arthritis in her lower back, Plaintiff struggles from

substantial and chronic back pain.
14.

Plaintiff was referred to Defendant’s facilities by her treating physician Dr.

Stephens. Dr. Stephens informed Plaintiff that he selected Defendant because they are the best
rehabilitation clinic in the area.
15.

October 27, 2016, Plaintiff contacted Defendant to make an appointment to receive
3
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physical therapy in Defendant’s facilities and to request an ASL interpreter for that appointment.
She also made a suggestion of an interpreter agency that Defendant could contact to schedule an
interpreter.
16.

Defendant informed Plaintiff that it would not provide an interpreter, but that

Plaintiff could attend the appointment without an interpreter or with an interpreter that she brought
for herself. Defendant stated that its staff could communicate with Plaintiff through written notes,
lip-reading, and gesturing.
17.

During this conversation, Plaintiff explained that those methods would not work

for her as a result of her vison problems, but Defendant maintained its refusal. As a result, Plaintiff
was forced to request a secondary referral from her doctor. Plaintiff received unsatisfactory care
at the secondary therapy center.
18.

Plaintiff began seeing a second doctor for pain management, Dr. Christopher

Tucker, who also referred Plaintiff to Defendant for therapy services. Dr. Tucker affirmed that
Defendant provides the best physical therapy services in the area.
19.

On November 2, 2016, Plaintiff again contacted Defendant to make an appointment

and to request an interpreter. Defendant again refused to provide Plaintiff with an interpreter and
told her to look for a different physical therapy center that provided interpreters. As a result,
Plaintiff was unable to use Defendant’s services.
20.

Plaintiff requested an interpreter from Defendant and had her request denied for a

third time on February 28, 2017.
21.

Instead, Plaintiff was forced to live with ongoing back pain as a result of her

inability to receive quality therapy services.
22.

Because she was denied services in Defendant’s facilities as a result of Defendant’s
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refusal to provide an interpreter, Plaintiff was forced to seek out the services of two other physical
therapy clinics.
23.

Plaintiff had to undergo spinal surgery on December 18, 2018 as a result of the

severity of her back problems.
24.

Plaintiff is entitled to equal access to services offered by Defendant as are enjoyed

by non-disabled persons.
25.

Defendant’s failure to accommodate Plaintiff’s disability deprived Plaintiff of the

opportunity to receive prompt and effective care.
26.

Defendant has intentionally prevented Ms. Cummings from benefitting from its

services by failing to provide the ASL interpreters necessary for her participation and care.
27.

Defendant discriminated against Plaintiff with deliberate indifference to her rights

and to her communication needs, causing Plaintiff to suffer humiliation, frustration, and emotional
distress.
28.

Plaintiff still wishes to access Defendant’s services and receive care in Defendant’s

facilities, but is being prevented from doing so by Defendant’s discrimination against her on the
basis of her disability.
CLAIM I: VIOLATIONS OF TITLE III OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES
ACT
29.

Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges all preceding paragraphs in support of this claim.

30.

At all times relevant to this action, Title III of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12181, et seq.,

has been in full force and effect and has applied to Defendant’s conduct.
31.

Defendant owns, leases, and/or operates a place of public accommodation within

the meaning of Title III of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12181(7) (D).
32.

At all times relevant to this action, Plaintiff has been substantially limited in the
5
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major life activities of hearing, speaking, and seeing and is an individual with a disability within
the meaning of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2).
33.

Title III of the ADA provides that “[n]o individual shall be discriminated against

on the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities,
privileges, advantages, or accommodations of any place of public accommodation by any person
who owns, leases (or leases to), or operates a place of public accommodation.” 42 U.S.C. §
12182(a).
34.

Title III of the ADA provides that “[i]t shall be discriminatory to subject an

individual or class of individuals on the basis of a disability or disabilities of such individual or
class, directly, or through contractual, licensing, or other arrangements, to a denial of the
opportunity of the individual or class to participate in or benefit from the goods, services, facilities,
privileges, advantages, or accommodations of an entity.” 42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(1)(A)(i).
35.

Title III of the ADA provides that “[i]t shall be discriminatory to afford an

individual or class of individuals, on the basis of a disability or disabilities of such individual or
class, directly, or through contractual, licensing, or other arrangements with the opportunity to
participate in or benefit from a good, service, facility, privilege, advantage, or accommodation that
is not equal to that afforded to other individuals.” 42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(1)(A)(ii).
36.

Title III of the ADA provides that “[i]t shall be discriminatory to provide an

individual or class of individuals, on the basis of a disability or disabilities of such individual or
class, directly, or through contractual, licensing, or other arrangements with a good, service,
facility, privilege, advantage, or accommodation that is different or separate from that provided to
other individuals, unless such action is necessary to provide the individual or class of individuals
with a good, service, facility, privilege, advantage, or accommodation, or other opportunity that is
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as effective as that provided to others.” 42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(1)(A)(iii).
37.

Federal regulations implementing Title III of the ADA provide that “[a] public

accommodation shall furnish appropriate auxiliary aids and services where necessary to ensure
effective communication with individuals with disabilities.” 28 C.F.R. § 36.303(c)(1).
38.

Title III of the ADA mandates that public accommodations “take such steps as may

be necessary to ensure that no individual with a disability is excluded, denied services, segregated
or otherwise treated differently than other individuals because of the absence of auxiliary aids and
services.” 42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(2)(A)(iii); see also Cal. Civ. Code § 51.5; Cal Civ. Code § 54.1.
39.

Pursuant to Title III of the ADA, Defendant has an affirmative duty to provide

accommodations for Ms. Cummings so that she may participate in Defendant’s services as would
any other non-disabled participant.
40.

The ADA and its promulgating regulations specifically instruct that the type of

auxiliary aid or service provided shall be based on the “method of communication used by the
individual, the nature, length, and complexity of the communication involve, and the context in
which the communication is taking place,” rather affordability of the auxiliary aid or service. 28
C.F.R. §36.303(c)(1)(ii).
41.

Defendant discriminated against Plaintiff, on the basis of her disability, in violation

of Title III of the ADA and its implementing regulations.
42.

As set out above, injunctive relief is warranted to ensure that Defendant’s actions

will not recur with Plaintiff and/or additional deaf or albino persons.
43.

Plaintiff is therefore entitled to injunctive relief, as well as an award of attorneys’

fees, costs, and disbursements pursuant to the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12188(a)(1), and/or common law.
CLAIM II: VIOLATION OF SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT

7
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44.

Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges all preceding paragraphs in support of this claim.

45.

At all times relevant to this action, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C.

§ 794 was in full force and effect and applied to the Defendant’s conduct.
46.

At all times relevant to this action, Plaintiff has had substantial impairment to the

major life activities of hearing, speaking, and seeing within the meaning of the Rehabilitation Act
regulations at 45 C.F.R. § 84.3(j). Accordingly, she is an individual with a disability as defined
under 29 U.S.C. § 708(20)(B), Section 504, as amended.
47.

At all times relevant to this action, Defendant has received federal funds, and has

therefore been a program or activity receiving federal financial assistance pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §
794(b).
48.

Pursuant to Section 504, “No otherwise qualified individual with a disability . . .

shall, solely by reason of her or his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be denied the
benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal
financial assistance . . . .” 29 U.S.C. § 794.
49.

Defendant has discriminated and continues to discriminate against Plaintiff solely

on the basis of her disability by denying her meaningful access to the services, programs, and
benefits the Defendant offers to other individuals, and by refusing to provide auxiliary aids and
services necessary to ensure effective communication, in violation of Section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act. 29 U.S.C. § 794.
50.

Defendant further discriminated against the individual Plaintiff by failing to ensure

effective communication through the specific provision of qualified in-person interpreters.
51.

Plaintiff is therefore entitled to compensatory damages, injunctive relief, and an

award of attorney’s fees, costs, and disbursements, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 794(a).
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CLAIM III: VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 1557 OF THE PATIENT PROTECTION AND
AFFORDABLE CARE ACT
52.

Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges all preceding paragraphs in support of this claim.

53.

At all times relevant to this action, Section 1557 of the Patient Protection and

Affordable Care Act (“Section 1557”), 42 USC § 18116 was in full force and effect and applied
to the Defendant’s conduct.
54.

At all times relevant to this action, Section 1557, 42 USC § 18116, incorporated

the definition of disability in the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. §705(9).
55.

At all times relevant to this action, Plaintiff had substantial limitations to the major

life activity of hearing, speaking, and seeing and was an individual with a disability within the
meaning of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 705(9) and of Section 1557, 42 USC § 18116.
56.

At all times relevant to this action, Plaintiff’s primary language for communication

was American Sign Language and not English; and Plaintiff had limited ability to read, write,
speak, or understand English, and was an individual with limited English proficiency within the
meaning of Section 1557, 45 C.F.R. §92.4.
57.

At all times relevant to this action, Defendant received federal financial assistance,

including Medicare reimbursements, and was principally engaged in the business of providing
rehabilitation physical therapy services. Therefore, Defendant is a health program or activity
receiving federal financial assistance pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 18116(a).
58.

Pursuant to Section 1557, “an individual shall not, on the ground prohibited

under . . . section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 794), be excluded from
participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under, any health
program or activity, any part of which is receiving Federal financial assistance . . .” 42 USC §
18116.
9
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Defendant has discriminated and continues to discriminate against Plaintiff solely

on the basis of her disability and her limited English proficiency by denying her meaningful access
to the services, programs, and benefits Defendant offers to other individuals by refusing to provide
auxiliary aids and services necessary to ensure effective communication in violation of Section
1557, 42 U.S.C. § 18116.
60.

Defendant discriminated against Plaintiff by failing to ensure effective

communication through the providing of qualified sign language interpreters.
61.

Absent injunctive relief there is a clear risk that Defendant’s actions will recur again

with Plaintiff and other Deaf or albino patients.
62.

Plaintiff is therefore entitled to seek and recover compensatory damages for the

injuries and loss they sustained as a result of Defendant’s discriminatory conduct and deliberate
indifference as hereinbefore alleged, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §18116(a).
63.

Plaintiff is further entitled to an award of attorney’s fees, costs, and disbursements

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 18116(a), the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. §794(a).
CLAIM IV: VIOLATIONS OF THE TEXAS HUMAN RESOURCES CODE §
121.003
64.

Plaintiff repeats and realleges all preceding paragraphs in support of this claim.

65.

At all times relevant to this action, Plaintiff was substantially limited in the major

life activities of hearing and speaking. Accordingly, she is an individual with a disability as defined
under Chapter 121 of the Texas Human Resources Code, § 121.002(4) (D)-(E).
66.

Defendant owns, leases, and/or operates a place of public accommodation as

defined under Chapter 21 § 121.002(5).
67.

Chapter 121 of the Texas Human Resources Code provides that “[p]ersons with

10
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disabilities have the same right as persons without disabilities to the full use and enjoyment of any
public facility in the state.” Tex. Hum. Res. Code § 121.003(a).
68.

Chapter 121 defines “discrimination” as a failure to “make reasonable

accommodations in policies, practices, and procedures; or provide auxiliary aids and services
necessary to allow the full use and enjoyment of the public facility.” Id. § 121.003(d)(2)-(3).
69.

Defendant failed to provide the auxiliary aids and services necessary to

accommodate Ms. Cummings disability.
70.

For the reasons described above, Defendant failed to make reasonable

accommodations for Plaintiff in the form of the auxiliary aids and services necessary to
accommodate her disability. In doing so, Defendant denied Plaintiff access to its services in the
same manner that they are provided to non-disabled individuals. Accordingly, Defendant violated
Plaintiff’s rights pursuant to Chapter 121 of the THRC.
71.

Chapter 121 of the THRC provides that an individual may seek a civil remedy in a

court of competent jurisdiction if she has been denied access to any public facility or service or if
an entity has failed to provide him with reasonable accommodations. Id. §121.003-121.004.
72.

Under Chapter 121 any public or private organization that violates the provisions

of Section 121.003, “is deemed to have deprived a person with a disability of his or her civil
liberties. The person with a disability deprived of his or her civil liberties may maintain a cause of
action for damages in a court of competent jurisdiction, and there is a conclusive presumption of
damages in the amount of at least $300 to the person with a disability.” Id. § 121.0004(b).
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays that this Court grant the following relief:
a.

Enter a declaratory judgment, pursuant to Rule 57 of the Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure, stating that Defendant’s policies, procedures, and practices have subjected Plaintiff to
11
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unlawful discrimination in violation of Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act, Section
504 of the RA, Section 1557 of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, and Section
121.003 of the Texas Human Resources Code.
b.

Enjoin Defendant from implementing or enforcing any policy, procedure, or practice

that discriminates against deaf and hard-of-hearing individuals, or individuals with partial
blindness caused by albinism;
c.

Order Defendant:
i.

to develop, implement, promulgate, and comply with a policy prohibiting
future discrimination against Plaintiff or other deaf or hard of hearing
individuals by failing to provide effective communication;

ii.

to develop, implement, promulgate, and comply with a policy to ensure that
Defendant will consider the communication needs of deaf individuals who
seek Defendant’s goods and/or services and will affirmatively work with
deaf individuals to provide effective auxiliary aids and services to make their
services accessible;

iii.

to train all its employees, staff, and other agents on a regular basis about the
rights of individuals who are deaf, hard of hearing, or who suffer from visual
impairments as a result of albinism under the ADA and other federal, state,
and local civil rights laws.

d. Award to Plaintiff:
i. Compensatory damages pursuant to Title III of the ADA, Section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act, Section 1557 of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care
Act, and Section 121.003 of the Texas Human Resources Code;

12
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ii. Reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees pursuant to the ADA, the RA, the ACA and
the THRC;
iii. Interest on all amounts at the highest rates and from the earliest dates allowed by
law;
iv. Any and all other relief that this Court finds necessary and appropriate.
JURY DEMAND
Plaintiff demands trial by jury for all of the issues a jury properly may decide, and for all
of the requested relief that a jury may award.

Dated: August 7, 2018
Respectfully submitted,
EISENBERG & BAUM, LLP
24 Union Square East, Fourth Floor
New York, NY 10003
212-353-8700 (tel.)
212-353-1708 (fax)
Attorneys for Plaintiff

By:

Grace Caroline Mahan, Esq.
TX# 24106239
gmahan@eandblaw.com

Andrew Rozynski, Esq.
NY# 5054465; prohac vice, to be filed
arozynski@eandblaw.com
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“X” in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis ofjurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below.
United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here.
United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an “X” in this box.
Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment
to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes
precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked.
Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the
citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section III below; NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity
cases.)

ifi.

Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark
this section for each principal party.

W.

Nature of Suit. Place an “X” in the appropriate box. If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit
code that is most applicable. Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.

V.

Origin. Place an “X” in one of the seven boxes.
Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.
Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441.
When the petition for removal is granted, check this box.
Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for fbrther action. Use the date of remand as the filing
date.
Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date.
Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or
multidistrict litigation transfers.
Multidistrict Litigation — Transfer. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C.
Section 1407.
Multidistrict Litigation — Direct File. (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master IVIDL docket.
PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7. Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to
changes in statue.

VI.

Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite
jurisdictional statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service

VII.

Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an “X” in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P.
Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction.
Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.

VIII.

Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any. If a related case exists, whether pending or closed,
insert the docket numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases. A case is related to this filing if the case: 1) involves some or all of the
same parties and is based on the same or similar claim; 2) involves the same property, transaction, or event; 3) involves substantially similar issues of
law and fact; and/or 4) involves the same estate in a banlcruptcy appeal.

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet.

